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HISTORICAL RECORDS OF THE MIGDALE/LEDMORE WOODS
Malcolm Bangor-Jones
Introduction

In the historical period the area now owned by the Woodland Trust was split between three estates: Creich, Skibo and Pulrossie (Skibo and Pulrossie were later combined under Dempster ownership).
Part of the lands of Spinningdale, including some natural woods, were feued by the Dempsters in the 1790s and remained in separate ownership.  It is not known whether any of the feu is included within the Woodland Trust property.
The Ledmore woods were divided between the Creich and Pulrossie estates.  The boundary was the burn Allt na Fluiarain between Creich and Skibo.  The boundary then appears to have headed in a roughly north east direction to the Spinningdale burn – there is a gap in the plantation which could well mark the boundary.
On the west side it looks to have been the fence line which runs from up the firth, passes just to the east of Little Creich, and then runs over the hill to Loch Migdale.
 
The earliest Creich plantations appear to have been on the slope on the south of Loch Migdale – but not south of the Spinningdale Burn.
Summary of woodland history from documentary sources

The oakwoods of Ledmore were clearly valued mentioned in the titles of the Creich estate

And evidence from the late 17th century demonstrates that efforts were made to protect those on the Pulrossie property.

The value as coppice wood for bark and for standards for boat building and the like.

There is no evidence that the woods were used to manufacture charcoal.

The latest evidence for cutting of the oak

Establishment of ‘fir’ or Scots pine plantations

New plantation in the 1840s on the hill of Creich, one of many plantations established on the Sutherland estate during this period.

The plantations have been subject to a number of fires.

A note on documentary sources

No set of extensive family or estate archives have survived for the Pulrossie or Skibo estates apart from a collection of titles and mainly legal documents held by the Highland Council Archives.

The Sutherland papers in the National Library of Scotland contain much information on the management of Creich when owned by the Sutherland family from 183? to 1899.  The drawback is the large size of the collection which can make finding relevant material difficult and time consuming.

These records have been supplemented for the current study by a range of sources from court records to newspapers to written accounts.

NRS National Records of Scotland

NLS National Library of Scotland

HCA Highland Council Archives

The findings demonstrate the potential of such records to provide useful evidence on woodland management, particularly where estate papers have not survived.  However, much of the documentary material, such as court records, is uncatalogued.

The estate of Pulrossie

In 1430 King James I granted the lands of Pulrossie to Angus Murray, son of Alexander Murray of Culbin.  The Murrays, and their descendants held the lands until the 1770s.
The story of the Murrays is rather complex and riddled with financial problems.  The estate had been seized by creditors in the 1670s but was extracted and settled on the Murrays and their heirs.  When Robert Murray of Pulrossie died in 1715 the estate passed to his nephew, George (presumably a son of George Murray in Fload).  George continued to borrow on the strength of the estate and in 1729 one creditor, Alexander Gordon of Gartie obtained an adjudication against the estate and obtained possession of the greater part.  On George’s death without an heir in August 1733 the estate passed to John who had hitherto possessed Fload.  Gartie assigned his claim to Alexander Sutherland of Kinminity in Moray, the nearest heir.   With little probability that he would ever have any offspring, in 1737 John Murray made over his right to the lands of Pulrossie and Fload to Alexander Sutherland of Kinminity in return for an annuity of 500 merks.  At a Freeholders’ Meeting in 1740 it was claimed that the “Family of Pulrossie is one of the Ancientest of this or the neighbouring County”.
Kinminity died bankrupt in 1742 leaving a son James, aged 8.  The estate of Pulrossie was sequestrated (declared bankrupt) and put under the administration of Kinminity’s widow, Mrs Mary Sutherland, as factrix (she acted as such until 1754).  James’ creditors brought proceedings against the estates of Kinminity, Clyne in Sutherland and his right to Pulrossie (the Sutherland of Clyne and the Sutherlands of Kinminity, to whom the estate of Clyne had passed, were cadets of Sutherland of Duffus, the former owners of Skelbo).  Kinminity was sequestrated in 1744 and an attempt was made to place James in possession of Clyne without becoming liable for his father’s debts.  James Sutherland duly succeeded to Clyne and also to the estate of Pulrossie: although he was known as the Laird of Clyne, he also adopted the additional name of Murray and was known as James Sutherland Murray.  He was forced to sell Clyne in 1773 and Pulrossie was sequestrated in 1776.  He died in Inverness in July 1783 aged 48 while on his way to Edinburgh for the recovery of his health.

The estate of Pulrossie was sold in 1777 to Charles Gordon, a tacksman in Strathnaver who had made money in the cattle trade and who acted as factor for the Sutherland family and also for Lord Reay.  Pulrossie was bought by George Dempster of Dunnichen from Charles Gordon (who bought an estate in Caithness) in 1789.
Skibo

Of old the estate of Skibo had belonged to the bishops of Caithness.  After the Reformation it passed to the Grays of Skibo who continued in possession they ran into financial difficulties in the 1730s.  The estate was sequestrated and put up for sale in 1742 by the courts.  It was bought by Sir Patrick Dowall or Doull of Westerfield in Caithness.  In 1751 the estate passed to Dowall’s nephew George Mackay, third son of George Lord Reay.  An advocate, he played an active part in Sutherland politics and did much to improve the property.  However, the estate was heavily burdened with debts which Dowall had not cleared off and Mackay, who was said to have been greatly extravagant, was forced to sell in 1773.  Skibo was bought by William Gray of Herboreal, Jamaica, a son of Patrick Gray, tacksman of Lairg.  Gray had made a fortune as a planter and been Provost Marshall General of the island.  However, the purchase of the estates of Skibo and Langwell in Caithness had been financed by borrowing and Gray was soon in difficulty.  The Skibo estate was sequestrated in 1780 and judicially sold in 1786 when bought by the noted Improver George Dempster of Dunnichen.  It was later combined with the Pulrossie estate.

In 1865 Skibo was bought by Thomas Chirnside of Werribee Park, Victoria, Australia.
In 1872 Chirnside sold the lands to Evan Charles Sutherland-Walker of Aberarder, Inverness-shire and Crow Nest in the West Riding of Yorkshire (in time known as Evan Charles Sutherland of Skibo).
In 1898 Skibo was sold to Andrew Carnegie the Scottish born American steel magnate and latterly generous philanthropist.  In 1899 Carnegie purchased from the Duke of Sutherland part of Clashmore and Cyderhall in the parish of Dornoch, the lands of Creich, Invershin and Achinduich in the parish of Creich and salmon fishings in the Kyle of Sutherland.

Spinningdale

In 1794 John Hamilton Dempster of Pulrossie and George Dempster of Dunichen feued “47 Acres 2 roods and 21 falls of the lands of Spenziedale” (thenceforth to be known as Spinningdale) to the Balnoe Company.  The feu included “7 Acres and 26 falls of natural wood”.  The company established the cotton mill at Spinningdale, the ruins of which still stand.  In 1807 George McIntosh merchant Glasgow and Benjamin Ross merchant Tain and the trustees of David Dale of Rosebank merchant Glasgow sold the lands to Malcolm Macfarlane cotton spinner in Busby.  The following year Macfarlane sold the lands to Dugald Gilchrist of Ospisdale.  The lands remained in the Gilchrist family until 1920 when they were sold to Alexander Macomb Chance, residing at or near Stourbridge.

Titles of the feu follow:

Sutherland Abbreviated Sasines no. 116, 13 Jan 1795

Feu contract 3 Feb 12 Nov 1794

John Hamilton Dempster of Pulrossie and George Dempster of Dunichen to The trustees of the Balnoe Company of “47 Acres 2 roods and 21 falls of the lands of Spenziedale with the Mill called the Mill of Spenziedale”

NRS CS235/G/30/1: extract of actual feu contract: lands all lying contiguous and bounded; S by Kyle or firth of Dornoch, W partly by the wood of Leadmore and partly by the hill of Craignastrone; N partly by other parts of the lands of Spenziedale and partly by Bay of Spenziedale.  March stones put up.

Sutherland Abbreviated Sasines no. 6, 25 Feb 1842

Disposition 28 April 14 May 1807

George McIntosh merchant Glasgow and Benjamin Ross merchant Tain and the trustees of David Dale of Rosebank merchant Glasgow to

Malcolm Macfarlane cotton spinner Busby

Disposition and assignation 1 June 1808

Malcolm Macfarlane to Dugald Gilchrist then of Ospisdale

Disp and settlement by Dugald Gilchrist to trustees 20 Sept 1837 and disposition and conveyance by the trustees to Daniel Gilchrist 13 Jan 2 Feb 1842

“in parts of the lands of Spenziedale, being part of the Estate of Polrossie, viz., the Arable lands of Balnastrone consisting of 7 Acres 3 roods and 21 falls, the arable lands of the Mains of Spenziedale to be hereafter called Spinningdale consisting of 15 Acres and 32 falls, the arable lands in the possession of [          ] Miller consisting of 2 Acres 2 roods and 29 falls, an additional part of the lands of Spinziedale now called Spinningdale consisting of 6 Acres and 38 falls, 8 Acres 1 rood and 31 falls of Pasture ground, and 7 Acres and 26 falls of natural wood, extending in whole to 47 Acres 2 roods and 21 falls, with the Mill commonly called the Mill of Spinziedale on the said ground”

Sutherland Abbreviated Sasines no. 27, 7 April 1920

Disposition 26 Feb 1920

Jane Georgina Gilchrist or Lyon and her husband Alexander Lyon residing formerly at 18 St. Leonard’s Terrace, Chelsea, London, now at Ospisdale, Dornoch, to

Alexander Macomb Chance residing at Compton House, Kinver, Stourbridge

“of parts of the lands of Spinningdale, being part of the Estate of Pulrossie, consisting of the following Parcels, viz., (1) the Arable lands of Balnastrone, consisting of 7 Acres 3 roods 21 falls, on the west side of the Burn of Spenziedale, (2) the Arable lands of the Mains of Spenziedale now called Spinningdale, consisting of 15 Acres 32 falls, on the east side of said Burn, (3) Arable lands consisting of 2 Acres 2 roods 29 falls, sometime in the occupation of [      ] Miller, (4) an additional part of the lands of Spenziedale now called Spinningdale, consisting of 6 Acres 38 falls to the eastward of said Mains, 8 Acres 1 rood 31 falls of Pasture ground, and 7 Acres 26 falls of natural Woods, extending in whole to 47 Acres 2 roods 21 falls, with the Mill of Spenziedale thereon, all contiguous and bounded on the south by the Kyle or Firth of Dornoch, on the north partly by the Road from Dornoch to Bonar by Loch Migdale and on the east partly by the Bay of Spinningdale, with Houses and Minerals, &c., in Parish of Creich, with right to the Water of the Loch of Migdale on the lands and Estate of Skibo, and to the Mill Dam of the Corn Mill and Mill Streams, and privilege of Moss from Mosses in the Estate of Pulrossie and right to the Shores and Fishings thereto corresponding and to Quarry Stones from the lands of Pulrossie, Spenziedale or the Estate of Skibo.”

Creich

Calendar of Writs of Munro of Foulis 1299-1823, edited C T McInnes, Scottish Record Society, 1940, Edinburgh pp.53-54

“184. 1628, June 22.  (Extract) Disposition (registered in the Books of Council and Session 17th September, 1634) by Symeon Lord Fraser of Lovatt, as superior, with consent of Robert Munro of Fowllis, to Robert Gray of Hospidaill and Bessie Gordoun, his spouse, and survivor, of the towns and lands of Creithmoir, Cammis, Creitheblair, Rynfinmack, Badderhowie, Cammiss with the wood and pasture of Leadmoir, together with the ‘shealling’ of Torbreck, lying in the barony of Ferrincoskie, earldom of Sutherland, and sheriffdom of Innerness, to be held in feufarm for the yearly payment of £20 Scots by equal portions at Whitsunday and Martinmas.  Witnesses, Duncan Bayne of Logie, William Fraser, James Glendinning, James Tarres, servitors to said Lord Lovatt, Hector Munro of Clynes, John Munro of Obsdaill, and William Lawder, notary public.”

In 1751 Mrs Mary Munro late of Newmore sold the estate to Alexander Gray Tacksman of Lairg and a drover.  It was seized for debt by his brother Robert Gray, subsequently of Creich.  In 1767 Robert sold the estate to his son-in-law, the lawyer Robert Gray of Ardens.  Ardens went bankrupt in 1777, the estate was sequestrated.  In 1783 the estate was bought by William Creech, the Edinburgh bookseller and later publisher of Burns.  Hugh Houstoun, tacksman of Brora and a merchant in partnership, bought the estate in 1786.  Improvements followed in 19th century including young plantations.

In 1833 the Houstouns sold the estate to the Duke of Sutherland.

The lands of Creich and other lands in the parishes of Creich and Dornoch were sold to Andrew Carnegie in 1899.
WOODLAND MANAGEMENT
Pulrossie and Skibo Woods
NRS RD14/1662, no. 1651 Contract Sir William Sinclair and John Ross

A 1658 contract between Sir William Sinclair of Cannesbie and John Ross of Little Tarrell, whereby Sir William sold Ross 1200 fir trees in the woods of Amatnatua in Strathcarron, mentions Ross’s “saw mylnes in Bona” and “the saw mylne of Spainyidaill” [Spinningdale].
Smout et al interpret this as Bonar Bridge and Spinningdale.  T C Smout, Alan R MacDonald & Fiona Watson, A History of the Native Woodlands of Scotland, 1500-1920, Edinburgh, 2005 p152
However, the name Bonar applied to both sides of the narrows and the saw mills were almost certainly on the south side.
NAS RD12/39/392 contract Sir Adam Gordon of Dalpholly and Robert Murray of Pulrossie 24 August 1698

Contract mentions a right granted in 1694 to “Spanziedale & Fload Corne and Saw mylns therof”.
NRS RD13/41 14 Feb 1701 Bond Alexr Gray to Dalfolly 1699

Golspietour 9 Jan 1699

Allexr Gray in Spanedale to Sir Adam Gordon of Dalphollie

Sir Adam set tack of “Lands of Spanedale and milne thereof Shucken and cnaveship” for 7 years W1698-

[sucken: all the lands which were astricted to a particular mill, in that their holders were bound to have their grain ground there and nowhere else, were called the mill's sucken]

knaveship: a quantity of grain due to the servants of a mill (who did the actual milling) by those who were bound to have their corn ground at that mill, but like all these sequels it varied according to the particular custom of the mill]

Alexander binds himself to pay 900 merks at Mertimes yearly (M99 for crop W98 etc) and “to cause the whole ploughs of the toune to tile three dayes and the whole mucking horses of the toune to mucke three dayes & the Shearers to sheare three dayes & to win and leade to the house of flode three score rickle of fewell and to build eight Cuple of Coat or byre yearly and each year dureing the continuatione of this present tacke”

and bind “to keep and preserve the woods except what Shall be necessary for the use of the ground and that I nor any of the tennents of the toune Shall not cutt any timber in the Leadmore either birke or oake nor suffer any other to cutt them nor in any of the woods belonging to the toune as is above s[pecifie]d except for the use of the ground, & pulrossies Land haveing his warrand under the feilzie of fortie pound toties quoties attour the reparatione of the dammage the samme being through my or mine tennents default and that I shall take each to whom I Sett Land bound in the sd terms”

the six firlots and a wedders pay presently possessed by the officer is excepted from tack and shall belong to Sir Adam

If tack duty unpaid for more than 6 months after due then optional to Sir Adam to pursue for it or to break tack

binds him “to leave thee Sd Lands and milne in sufficient bigging and tennentrie according as it is at this present day and to that effect that the bigging shall be comprized be honest men mutually chosen and I oblidge me to leave the Same in as good conditione as it now is togither with the milne and furniture therof and in caice of melioratione it being alwayes lirent? to me to remove my own bigging how far it is meliorat or gett payment therfor as the Samme Shall be appreciat at the Ishue of my tack”

and obliged to winter eight beasts yeairly for Sir Adam

w
Mr Wm Mackbeth writer of


Allexr Elphinstoune servitor to Sir Adam

NRS CS29 11 August 1778 Discharge by ground officer and woodkeeper on Pulrossie estate 1751

Receipt by Walter Murray ground officer and wood keeper

Spenzeadaill 14 November 1751

Walter M[   ] Ground Officer in Pulrossie declares that he was always paid to him these several years and to his predecessors in the office of “Ground oficer and Woodkeeper by the Laird of Kinminity in his lifetime and the present Factrix [his] Relict Since, three bolls yearly of Victuall for my pains [as] Ground oficer & Keeping the oaken woods of Leadmore and that I was likewise in use to get a hide for Shoes or Sex Shillings Sterling of mony for the Same… As Also I do testify and it is Known to all in this bounds there is A boll Discounted to one William Murray for Keeping the woods of Keillok yearly”

Signs with mark W M

Witnessed Lachlaine Mcintosh mason in Creiche and John Ross wright at Migdell writer of the discharge

“Walter Moro Ground ofcer on Pullrose and Wod Ciper”

NRS CS29 11 August 1778 Judicial rental of Pulrossie Estate taken in May 1775
Dornoch 4 May 1775

Robert Gray Esq of Creich at Evilicks married aged 50 years and upwards SIG

Possessed Mains of Pulrossie by tack for 9 years commencing W1746 from Mrs Mary Sutherland Lady Kinminity at that time factrix on estate of Pulrossie app thinks by Court of Session.

“Depones that upon the Estate of Pulrossie there are Considerable Oak woods which were last Cut within these Ten years past and are now again in a thriveing Condition.  That when these woods were Cut as above they were Superintended by David Duncan now at Brora who informed the Deponent to the best of his remembrance that the proprietor cleared above four hundred pounds Sterl[ing] by the Sale of the said woods  That is of the Timber and Bark.  Depones that in the neighbouring Countys such woods as the above are in use to be Cut once in the Twenty five years and from the best of the Deponents Skill and what he knows to be the present Condition of the woods on the Estate of Pulrossie he thinks they may be Cut in the usual manner”
Dornoch 5 May 1775
Mr David Duncan at Brora married aged 40 and upwards SIG

He counted with tenants of estate of Pulrossie and was present with the proprietor when he collected their rents for several years preceding 1770.

“Interrogate if there are Oak woods upon the Estate of Pulrossie did the Deponent see these Cut down what profits accrued to the proprietor from them what is the present Condition of these woods and how often does he think they may be Cut to advantage and when they were Cut last.  Depones That there is both Oak and Birch wood to a considerable Extent upon the Estate and if properly taken Care of and attended to would turn out to a very great advantage that in the year Seventeen hundred and Sixty Two or Sixty three the proprietor was applyed to by one Douglass at Athel for the purchaseing of the Oak wood but the proprietor and Douglass did not agree and as there could be no vidimus in the writes of Pulrossie where that wood had been formerly Cutt to Acertain a price of the Sale the Deponent advised the proprietor to Cut the wood upon his own Expence and to keep an exact account of the Sales and Expence thereof in order that in after periods the Successors might know the value of the wood that Accordingly the proprietor Consented upon the Deponents takeing the Charge and inspection of the same.  That the wood Cuting which Commenced in Seventeen hundred and Sixty two or Sixty three Continued till the year Seventeen hundred Sixty Seven which was the last year of the Cuting  That the woods produced above Twelve hundred Bolls of Bark which the Deponent sold to the Tanary Company at Inverness at Nine and Six pence the Boll each Boll weighing Twelve Stone except the first two years that the proprietor sold part of that himself at a price the Deponent does not now remember and Depones That after the Deponent had settled with the Tanarie Comp[an]y at Inverness for the price above mentioned in the year Seventeen hundred and Sixty Seven or Sixty Six when the Deponent came to settle with the Company at Inverness and to receive the price of the Bark delivered he was Surprised to find that the proprietor had altered the Bargain the Deponent had made and had sold the Bark for Seven Shillings and three pence the Boll or Seven and Six pence the Boll But notwithstanding of the difference of the price the proprietor received above Four hundred pounds Sterl[ing] free of all Expence and Charges for Cuting &cra  That there was regular Accompts kept of the yearly expence and profits of the Cuting of the wood and put up in the proprietors keepings with his other writes for the Benefits of his Successors  Depones That if the wood is properly kept and taken Care of as it was for Some years after it was Cut the Deponent thinks that thirty or Forty years hence the wood will be worth more than what it yielded at last Cuting and his reason for saying so is that there was a great many Standards left and that the proprietor or his doers had been in use of Cuting to the value of sometimes Ten or Twelve pounds worth a year before the General Cuting Commenced but that in other Countrys where they put no value upon their woods they used to Cut every Twenty year but this wood being Closs to the Sea the wood is of value to Boat & Ship Builders and sells at a good price and is Commonly allowed to stand Longer from being Cut”
NRS CS29 11 August 1778 Discharge by ground officer and woodkeeper 31 Jan 1777

“Inshlumpie 31 January 1777 Received by me Simon McGrigor Ground Officer on the Sequestrated Estate of Pulrossie from Mr John Barclay Factor on said Estate the Number & Quantity of Three Bolls Victual of Crop Jajvij[] & Seventy five and that as my Salary as Ground Officer foresaid, and also as Woodkeeper of the Woods of Ledmore & Keeloig from Martin[mas]s Jajvij[] and Seventy five to Martin[mas]s Jajvij[] and Seventy six of which years Salary I hereby discharge the said Factor and all others Concerned

Simon McGrigor”

1140891 “Tain 21st May 1776 Received By me Simon McGrigor Ground Officer on the Sequestrate Estate of Pulrossie from John Barclay Writer in Tain Factor on the Said Estate the Sum of Ten Shillings Sterling in lieu of a Hyde due to me for Shoes from Martinmass Jajvii[] & Seventy five to Martinmass Jajvii[] & Seventy Six years and which Sum is hereby Discharged By Simon McGrigor”

“Inshlumpie 13 Decem[be]r 1777 Received by me Simon McGregor Ground Officer on the Sequestrated Estate of Pulrossie from Mr John Barclay Factor on said Estate the Number & Quantity of Three Bolls Victual of Crop Jajvij[] and Seventy Six, and that as my Salary as Ground Officer foresaid, and also as Woodkeeper of the Woods of Ledmore and Keeloig, from Martin[mas]s Jajvij[] and Seventy six to Martin[mas]s Jajvij[] and Seventy seven, Of which year’s Salary I hereby discharge the said Factor & all Concerned

Simon McGrigor

I acknowledge also to have received from Mr Barclay One Boll Victual of said Cropt, and that for my trouble in taking care of and turning frequently the Oats recovered from Mr Sutherland Murray & now lying on the Kiln Loaft of Pulrossie to prevent it beng damnified

NRS JP32/5/7 Petition McGrigor To The Justices of the peace 1778

1778 petition to the JPs of Sutherland by “Simon MackGrigor ground officer and wood Keper” on the Pulrossie estate

That on a day or night in July John Mackay at Pulrossie had “pilled and take away the Bark of Several oak trees in the wood of Leadmore”  He had disposed of the bark to a “Showmaker in proncie”.  The trees thus peeled and destroyed had been left standing to the number of eight.  On 6 August warrant was granted to place Mackay in the tollbooth of Dornoch to compear in due course. 

Skibo 6 Aug 1778

Robert Gray JP ordains one of constables of court to carry Mackay to tollbooth of Dornoch

Bond of Cautry Sciberscross For John McKay

William Sutherland of Sciberscross for John Mackay servant to Mr Gray of Pulrossie now prisoner within tollbooth for “piling Standing Timber” to compear and stand trial

And John Mackay to relive him [signed with initials] I M

Dornoch 6 Aug 1778
NRS CS235/G/30/1 Evidence provided in commonty case

4 Sept 1815
Donald Munro tenant in Lonemore aged 48 ILLIT
cannot say if owner of Skibo used “any of the wood that grows upon Bat-Bhae or the rock of Migdol, but the Tenants of Skibo were in the practice of using it, and they also used the wood on Kyle oig”  “well acquainted with the Miln called Muillin-sufeeah upon the burn issuing from Loch Migdol, the meaning of which the Interpreter stated to mean the Miln of the fairies… also called mullin gleannan meaning the Miln in the Glen… he does not know when this Miln was built but it was built before he was born, … belongs to the Estate of Skibo…“Miln called the Miln of the fairies was only used when they could not command water at the other Miln of Migdol” [other end of Loch Migdale]

4 Sept 1815

Donald Ross tenant in Ardnacalk aged 72 ILLIT

“born near the Bonar Ferry on the Skibo Estate… father was also tenant in the place where the Deponent was born, but was afterwards Tenant at Kuanamoan then the property of the Honble Mr Mckay of Skibo … father held his Lease from him… father died about forty four years ago… father had a written tack of this place from Mr Mackay, which the deponent never saw, but he understood it was for as long a period as grass grew, and this Tack was lost… heard it reported that there had been a Tenant in that place before his fathers time who was called black Hugh… during all the period of his fathers possession he never heard of any claim …to… Kuanamoan except by the proprietor of Skibo, that the bounds of it were Confined on the south side by the lands of Creich, and on the North east side by the Lands of Pulrossie, That the bounds to the westward were more extensive reaching to the Loch Migdol, and the Lands adjacent which were also the property of Skibo… burn that runs out of the Loch Migdol was always considered as the boundary betwixt the Lands of Muckle Creich and Skibo’s Lands.”

5 September 1815

George Grant tenant in Kyloig aged 58 SIG

“he has resided at Kyloig twenty three years last Summer and is well acquainted with the Lands of Migdol, Bat Bhae and Kuannamoan, Depones that he has always heard that the Lands betwixt Migdol and Kuannamoan belonged exclusively to the proprietor of Skibo and he never heard of any other person claiming a right to them That he Saw Mr Dempster selling by public roup at Spinningdale the wood growing upon Bat Bhae and the rock of Migdol and this was about twenty years ago That Mr James Reoch of Tain and Mr Boog of Dornoch who are both now dead were the purchasers and the deponent himself was employed in cutting it down, That he cannot say what was the price given, what was the number of trees, or what time it took them to cut it down, Depones that he does not know of any offers having been made for a private purchase of the wood but he recollects there was a person from Morayshire attended [sic], Depones that he recollects hearing about thirty years ago but he cannot say who were the persons from whom he heard this, it being at so distant a period but he believes they are dead, That the proprietor of Meikle Creich had attempted to erect a Miln on the South side of the Burn issuing from Loch Migdol on his own property, and had proceeded to Cut a Miln lead, but was prevented by the proprietor of Skibo and Stopt from proceeding, and that the remains of that Miln lead are still decernible, Depones that the Lands of Pulrossie and Skibo are bounded by a Burn that assumes three different names in its progress, at Kuannamoan it is called the Burn of Kuannamoan, a little farther to the North west it is called Aultveallich and lastly Aultanfearn … there has always been a tenant in Kuannamoan since he remembers, and that he understood they pay rent to the proprietor of Skibo alone”

Donald Ross tenant in Kuannamoan aged 64 years ILLIT

“he has been twenty eight years tenant in Kuannamoan, and never paid rent to any other person but the proprietor of Skibo… the burn which runs to the east ward of the Deponents house is the march betwixt Pulrossie and Skibo, and is called the Burn of Kuannamoan, and that he understands the same Burn farther is called Aultlekach little miln which is in his immediate neighbourhood, That it is commonly called the Miln of Migdale from the Miller of Migdol attending it but he has also heard it called Muillingleannan and muillin n’fuah, That this Mill was there before he came to the place, That it was always repaired by the Tenants of Skibo…  the wood on Bat Bhae and the rock of Migdol belonged to the proprietor of Skibo and his Tenants made use of it occasionally by his permission, That he knows Mr Geo: Dempster then of Skibo Sold the oak growing there, but he does not know whether it was by roup, That he supposes it was about twenty years ago, That one James Murray was wood keeper there for Mr Dempster and he is now dead.  Tenants of Skibo applied for leave from the proprietor to cut wood on Bat Bhae or the rock of Migdol… understood they were in the use to get orders, That he himself when he was building his house applied for leave to cut wood for it on Bat Bhae and he got the wood from it, and Mr George Dempster was then proprietor… he never heard whether any proprietor of Skibo before Mr Dempster sold the wood of Bat Bhae …”

George Murray in Spinningdale aged 53 ILLIT

“was born in Spinningdale and has been there almost all his life” 

mill called “muillingleannan, and it is also called Muillin n’fuah”

“he was present at the roup of the wood of Bat Bhae when sold by Mr George Dempster of Dunichan then proprietor of Skibo and Mr Dempster himself attended at the roup, That one William Munro now living at Achany was the Auctioneer, and the wood was bought by Mr Reach and Mr Boog, That this was about Ninteen [sic] or twenty years ago”

6 September 1815

George Campbell tenant in Migdol aged 64 ILLIT

“been in his present residence since he was born and is well acquainted with the Lands of Bat Bhae and Kuannamoan… he does not recollect of any wood being cut there till the oak wood was sold by Mr George Dempster by public roup, and it was bought by Mr Boog and Mr Reoch”

“there were Tenants at Kuannamoan in the time of Mr Mackay of Skibo but he cannot say whether there were any before his time”

CS235/G/30/1 Documents produced in commonty case [These documents cannot at present be found: they are not in the box they were formerly]
letter John Fraser factor to G Dempster 10 March 1787

Migdole woodkeeper says number of oak trees “grown old, and going to decay.  They are of pretty great growth...there will be about 200 of them, which ought to be cut and sold off. ...the wood is above two or three miles distant from the shore.”

2 offers both refused

1789 £30 and for scattered bushes in Spinningdale £12 and the large oak tree in Balnastroin £3 and the small wood of Achary (estate of Pulrossie) £10

1789 offer of James Hendry

£32 for “oak wood of the craig of Migdale”

whole oak wood upon the north side of the loch, above six inches circumference.  All at that dimensions, and below, to be left standing in the wood, if required.  I also oblige myself to cut the wood properly, that it shall not injure the second growth.”

large oak at Spinningdale £3  10  0

wants to build a sloop at Bonar  easier to build there than at residence at Burgh Head

in treaty with Major Baillie of Rosehall as to his wood

if small oaks to east of Spinningdale and Acharrie to be sold will offer

HCA D515/1 (microfilm of Dempster papers held in Toronto Library)
Kenneth Mackay to Captain J H Dempster 22 November 1792 Torboll

“I shall attend to your instructions regarding Laidmore if Achany gives £10  10 a year for it you can be no loser by any dammage his cattle will do the woods, but if he does not come near that surely it would be better to preserve the Oaks as they are quite young – however I shall see him and do what I can”

G Dempster to My Dear Brother 25 June 1796 Skibo

“Boog [builder] offers you for your Patch of Oaks at Spinningdale the same price he gave the Company” [presumably on the feu]
Caledonian Mercury 20 August 1796

Sale: Oak Wood in Sutherland
28 Sept 1796 roup: one lot: whole oak trees about 1830 in number of Wood of Migdole in Creich “Some of those trees are fit for building small vessels, and most of the others for boat building.”

Proprietor at Skibo or Captain Kenneth Mackay of Torbole

Inverness Journal 4 March 1831

“Oak copse.  There will be on sale this season, a considerable quantity of oak copse, on the north bank of the Dornoch Firth, singularly convenient for water carriage.”  Apply Forbes, Pulrossie.  1 March 1831

Creich Woodland Management
A Wight, Present State of Husbandry in Scotland Vol IV, Edinburgh, 1784 p.293
Tour of north made in 1781:

“the lands and estate of Creech… There appeared extensive oak-woods, and some fine plantations of fir on the estate.”

Caledonian Mercury 24 March 1783

Judicial sale 20 June of the lands and estate Creech.  “There is a valuable oak wood... some plantations of firs in good preservation, on neither of which has any value been put, and which in a few years may turn out to good account.”

Caledonian Mercury 26 June 1809

“Sale of Oak Wood in the County of Sutherland.  The cutting of an extensive oak wood, of remarkable good quality, and uncommon fine bark; it is situated on the immediate shore of the Dornoch Firth, the county road passing through he centre of the wood. Also,

A large quantity of birch and fir wood.

Application may be made to the proprietor, Hugh Houstoun, of Creich, and Clyne, by Dornoch; or to William McKenzie, Esq. W.S. Edinburgh.

Robert Denoon, wood-keeper, at Creich, will show the wood to any intending purchaser.

N.B. There are other woods in the close neighbourhood of Creich for sale.”

Inverness Journal 8 Oct 1819

“Sale of oak and birch bark

There is to be sold at Creechwood, a large quantity of oak and birch bark, with a large quantity of oak and birch boat timbers of large and small dimensions, and a great quantity of burn-wood, for smoking red herrings.

Apply to Messrs. Macdonald and Elder, merchants, Sleat, Skye, or to the manager, at Creechwood, by Bonar Bridge, Sutherland, any time before the latter end of October next.”

NLS Dep.313/1073 [valuation of Creich estate] nd [post 1831 probably 1833]

Upwards of 600 Scots acres of wood and hill pasture “There is not in the north, better wintering for sheep than is afforded by the natural woods of Leadmore”.  Copse of Leadmore cut and sold in 1818 [sic] for £1000.  “It will be ready for cutting in a few years”.
Young plantations 10 - 12 years old ash oak elm and others together with fir and larch and extend from 350 to 400 acres

NLS Dep.313/1862 Dunrobin district 1834 Accounts
Woods

Labourers Creech

Thinning parishes of Dornoch and Creech

Thinning Creech

Effy McIntosh work in Creech Nursery

Effy Fraser 43 days weeding in Creech Nursery

John Sutherland 4 Seed bags from Creech Woods

NLS Dep.313/1907 vouchers Dunrobin management 1834

June 1834 Creich repairing plantation dykes

Effy McIntosh [illit] work in Creech Nursery 16 days at 6d

Effy Fraser 43 days weding the Nursary at Creich 6d per day £1  1  6

John Sutherland 4 Seed bags from Creech Woods: “4 Canvass bags for holding Fir seeds for Creich plantations” at 2s each
NLS Dep.313/1863 Dunrobin district 1835 Accounts

Agnes Chisholm weeding Creech Nursery

NLS Dep.313/1909 vouchers Dunrobin management 1835

Alexander Grant thinning oak wood at Invershin £2  11  6

Agnes Chisholm [illit] “50 days work weding [sic] plants in Creich Nursery at 6d p[er] day £1  5”.  Receipted 16 Sept 1835

“making a paling between the Mound Alder plantation & the Farm of Torboll” Donald Ferguson £2  10s 

Alexander Fraser “9 days work of one horse taking wood out of Clashmore plantation for pailing on the Farm of Creich at 3/- p[er] day” £1  7  0
Alexr & John Grigor, Elgin & Forres Nurseries

25 Feb 1835

For Creich

7lb larch seeds

50 chesnut (5 feet high)

50 lime tree (5 feet high)

50 mapple for Plane

NLS Dep.313/1864 Dunrobin accounts 1836

“30 July Donald McLennan to account of peeling and drying 38 Tones 8 Cwt Oak Bark at Creech” £45  0  0

Balance [of ditto] 34  2  4

Total [ditto] £79  2  4

Sundries expenses with bark £13  9  3

John Ross building up windows & Doors of Shed at Creech for Bark
1  5  0

Total £93  16  7

Hanging a gate for Creech woods

NLS Dep.313/1910 vouchers Dunrobin management 1836

“peeling and drying Oak Bark”

“peeling & drying 34 Tuns 8 Cwt. of Oak bark at Creich and Tressady [Rogart] at £2  6/- per ton £79  2  4”

Donald MacLennan [sig]

[number of vouchers]

John Grant & John Calder “28 days work carrying Oak bark and Cart wheel spokes from Leadmore to the Store at Creich Distillery at 3/9d £5  5”

31 August 1836

“Creich Augst 16th 1836”

£1  10/- “for spliting and dressing sixty dozs of Cart wheel spokes at ledmore of Creich” John Ross and Alexander Mckenzie [sigs]

John Mackay [illit]

“carrying 5½ Tuns of oak bark from Tressady to the Little Ferry at 12/- p. ton £3  6”

Little Ferry 4 Sept 1836

£2 “freight of a boat of wood from Creich to Golspie for Char Coal”

Alexander McPhon [?]

Golspie 22 Sept 1836

William Mackenzie Blacksmith

“Tools for cuting Oakwood & bark at Leadmore

6th June

2 Pruning Knives at 3/-

6  0

24 Peeling irons


11  0

Repairing a hedgebill & Laying 4 axes
6  6

13th July

Bolts, holdfasts & slapples for

Creich Store house 7½ lbs at /6d
3  9

Repairing a hedgebill

1  0

30 Sept 1836



£1  8  3

[total £13  9  3]

NLS Dep.313/1865 Dunrobin 1837

Income from woods in district includes
Oak bark £197  8  9

Expenditure

D Dempster freight of Oak Bark from Creech to Little Ferry
£1  5  0

Shipping Oak bark






£11  13  4

Spikes for paling to Creech

Advertising oak bark General Advertiser 17s

Weeding in Creech nursery

NLS Dep.313/1866 Dunrobin accounts 1838

Income from woods includes

Oak bark £62  2  6

Expenditure

26 March 1838 Labourers in Creech woods 3  11  6 [Dep.313/1912: Planting – men and women]

2 June Jas Matheson weighing oak bark & 2  11  6

[Dep.313/1912 wages to men and expences weighing  and loading Oak Bark at Little Ferry in June & July £1  15  6

NLS Dep.313/1867 Dunrobin accounts 1839

21 Dec A Grant paling at Creech £9  14  0 voucher 37 [Dep.313/1912 paling on Farm of Creich]

NLS Dep.313/1868 Dunrobin accounts 1842

Donald Macdonald Creech Forester £28 annually

28 July 1842 John Baillie thinning Birch at Sciberscross £33

Ditto thinning Oak at Creech £38  14  0

Shipping oak bark

NLS Dep.313/1869 Dunrobin accounts 1844

26 Nov Will McDonald making drains at Creech £5  10  0 

31 Dec W & D Campbell draining and erecting fences at Creech new plantation £46  3  8

William Murray building fence £28  14  6

Total for Creech £80  8  2

NLS Dep.313/1916 vouchers Dunrobin management 1844

4400 yards of drains in Creich plantations : 2/6 per 100 yards: William Macdonald

William and Donald Campbell and William Macdonald

“building 441 yards of Sunk fence enclosing part of the south side of the new Creich plantation at /4d p[er] yd” £7  7  0

“Cuting 16000 yards of drains in do at 2/6 p[er] 100 yds”
20  0  0

“Building a house on North Side of do”



10  10  0










£37  17  0

Building 111 yards of double stone dyke 1/6d


8  6  8










£46  3  8

William Murray “building 1532 yards of Sunkfence on the Backhill of Creich for new plantation at 4½ p[er] yard”
£28  14  6

NLS Dep.313/1870 Dunrobin accounts 1845

26 June A Grant building Creech plantation fence £29  19  11

NLS Dep.313/1917 vouchers Dunrobin management 1845

Alexander Grant and William Murray

“building 1057 yards of turf fence on the south side of Creich new plantation at 4½d p[er] yd.





£19  16  4½

Repairing a fence on the West side of do
3  15  6

Cuting 5125 yards of surface drains at 2/6

p[er] 100 yds





6  8  1








£29  19  11

NLS Dep.313/1871 Dunrobin accounts 1846

21 March 1846 Labourers wages Creich Plantation £73

15 April Jas Campbell carriage of plants to D[itt]o £1  15  6

A Mackay for freight £2  17  0

14 Sept J Grigor & Co plants £57  7  3

26 Nov Labourers wages planting do £18  2  0

18 Dec Lawson & Smith larch for do £12  3  6

22 Dec J Matheson freights & carriages for do £3  2  9

J McDonald cutting drains in do £20  0  0

J Grigor & Co plants for do £19  16  0

Dno Mackenzie Cromarty plants for do £15  2  5

[Total] 223  6  5
NLS Dep.313/1818 Dunrobin vouchers 1846

John McDonald and Donald McDonald

For cuting 16000 yards of drains in Creich new plantation @ 2/6d p. 100 yards £20

Paid 23 March 1846

Labourers’ pay lists for February £26  2  6 and March £26  17  6 1846 Creich Plantation

John Mckay and James Campbell

Carting plants from Stattenham to Creich £1

Do Do from Little Ferry to do 15  6

£1  15  6

Paid 23 March 1846

Alexander McKay per the Burghead Packet

2 Feb 1846 
Freight 4 Mats Plants 12
12  0

18th

p the Burghead Packet 11 Mats Plants 33/
1  13  0

March 4th
p the Burghead Packet 4 Mats Plants 12/
12

£2  17  0

John Grigor & Co, Forres Nursery

1846

29 Jan
210,000 2 yr Native Firs @ 1/3
13  2  6



3 Matts



0  4  6



Carriage to Burghead

0  3  6

17 Feb
530,000 2 yr Native Firs @ 1/3
33  2  6



9 Matts



0  18  0



Carriage to Burghead

0  9  0

4 March
145,000 2yr Native Firs @ 1/3
9  1  3



2 Matts



0  4  0



Carriage to Burghead

0  2  0








£57  7  3

[signed for J A Matheson]

16 Sept 1846 Paid

Labourers’ Pay List for Planting at Creich for the month of November 1846

£18 2  0

Lawson & Smith Seedsmen & Nurserymen, Inverness 2 April 1846

20,000 2 yr Seedg Larch @ 4/6 £6  15  0

Proportion of crate &

   1  6






£6  16  6

Ditto 26 Feb 1846

30,000 2 yr Seedg. Larch @ 3/6
£5  5  0

Mat & packing


0  2  0






£5  7  0

Jas Matheson

£3  2  9

Frieghts and land carriages from Cromarty and Forres

John Macdonald

“For cuting 16000 yards of drains in the Creich new plantation at 2/6 p[er] 100 yards £20

Paid 15 Dec 1846

John Grigor etc

11 Nov 1846 150,000 2 yr Native Scotch Firs @ 1/3
9  7  6

3 Matts






0  6  0

Carriage to Burghead




0  4  0









£9  17  6

22 Dec 1846 150,000 2 year Native Scotch Fir @ 1/3d 9  7  6

3 Matts






0  6  0

Carriage &c






0  5  0









£9  18  6

Per Packet to Little Ferry

Donald Mackenzie Cromarty

6 Nov 1846

100,000 2 year Seedlings Scotch firs native at 1/2
5  16  8

50,000 2 years Seedlings Larch at 3/


7  10  0

5 Large Bap Mats at 2/-




0  10  0

12 Plants Sweet Scented Bay For Dunrobin

0  18  0

Charges from Cromarty to Bellaport 7/9d

0  7  9









£15  2  5

New works

To George Dempster Esq of Skibo

1 Nov 1846 To ½ Sum p[er] Alex. Calder & R Ross Spinningdale for building 304 yds of March dyke, in Leadmore Oak woods betuixt the Estates of Sutherland and Skibo £2  10  8

Paid 14 Nov 1846

NLS Dep.313/1872 Dunrobin accounts 1847

26 March Donald McDonald planting at Creech £8  4  0

13 Dec Labourers wages in d[itt]o £17  8  6

John Grigor & Co plants for do 4  1  0

Donald Mackenzie plants 7  13  0

[total] £37  6  6

NLS Dep.313/1819 Dunrobin management vouchers 1847

John Grigor & Co, Forres Nursery 18 Dec 1847 paid £178  4  6

Includes many plantations

17 Nov 50,000 2 yr Native Fir 1/6  £3  15  0

2 matts 4/- carriage 2/- 6  

For Creich Plantation £4  1  0

Donald McDonald

For 82 days work planting at Creich at 1/6d £6  3  0

82





6 £2  1  0







£8  4  0

Labourers’ Pay List for Creich Plantation for the month of November 1847

10, 11, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 29

20 women at 6d per day

20 men mostly at 1/6 with three at 1s

Varied from 6 to 7 half days 26 Nov was a half day [bad weather]

£14  0  6d

Freights and land carriages of plants 3  8  0

Total £17    8  6

Donald Mackenzie, Nurseryman, Seedsman and Florist, Cromarty

4 Nov 1847 110,000 2 years Seedling Native Scotch Firs 6  17  6

4 Large Bass Mats 8  0

Charges from Cromarty to Meikle Ferry 7  6

£7  13  0

Paid 17 Dec 1847

NLS Dep.313/1873 Dunrobin 1848

27 Feb Jas Chisholm repairs to paling at Creich £2  15  6

21 Dec ditto making ditto ditto £2  4  6
[probably Creich Farm]

NLS Dep.313/1875 Scroll Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1850

Woodkeeper: Donald Macdonald Creich

NLS Dep.313/1876 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1851

Woodkeeper: Donald Macdonald Creech £28
NLS Dep.313/1877 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1853

NLS Dep.313/1878 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1854

NLS Dep.313/1879 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1855

NLS Dep.313/1880 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1856

[two entries relating to Strath Fleet, clarified by vouchers]

Aberscross [Dep.313/1928 Aberscross and Tressady oak wood]

Laborers Wages Thinning Nat[ura]l Wood for Charcoal [Dep.313/1928 thinning Fleet natural wood]

NLS Dep.313/1881 Account of Receipts and Payments for Dunrobin Estate in 1857

[entry in accounts clarified by voucher]

Jno McDonald taking horses out of Creech Wds 17s

[Dep.313/1929 Hugh Murray horses out of the Doun of Creech Pl for trespass]

New works

Forester’s House Creech £145 to account of
NLS Dep.313/1882 Dunrobin 1858

NLS Dep.313/1883 Dunrobin 1859

NLS Dep.313/1884 Dunrobin 1860

NLS Acc.12173/13 Dunrobin abstract accounts 1861

Woods

28 Feb Creech Plantation New Road Lab: wages forming £8  0  0

NLS Acc.12173/13 Dunrobin abstract accounts 1861
Woods

28 June Creich Plantation New Road Lab Wages £4  7  6

26 Aug





£7

29 Oct






26  11  0

D MacCorquodale travelling expenses 

£1  15  0

Total 






£40  3  7

29 Oct Fleet & Creich Plantns Howden Brors plants for replanting £49  17  9
NLS Acc.12173/13 Dunrobin 1862

Woods

Doune of Creich Lab: Wages replanting etc

NLS Acc.12173/14 Dunrobin 1863

Woods

Creich Plantation Labourers draining £9  18  8

Ditto ditto £9  12  6

NLS Acc.12173/15 Dunrobin 1864

Woods

Creich plantation

26 Aug 1864 Draining labourers wages £4

26 Nov ditto £8

26 Nov D McCorquodale travelling expenses £1  10

26 Dec Labourers wages £4  12  0

NLS Acc.12173/16 Dunrobin 1865
Woods and Nurseries

26 July Creich Plantation draining labourers wages £3  5  6

30 Sept £6

27 oct £2  18  0

28 Nov £4  16  6

Ditto Foresters travelling expenses 10s

28 Dec Ditto labourers wages 3  17  6

Total £21  7  6
NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 1

Report of the Woods in the Dornoch District [of the Sutherland estate] November 1877

Badly managed – much wood cut for estate purposes – eg in last 4 years for Lairg reclamations – which shd have been left to grow

Let for pasture – a mistake – impossible to keep drains clear and in many places ground becomes saturated

Acc.10225/338 ff.802-03 J Peacock to Sidney Hadwen of Balblair 23 March 1880

“The Squirrels are still doing much damage in the Creich Plantations…” proposes to send Stenhouse to shoot as many as possible.  Trying to get Sutherland-Walker to send to his plantations at same time
Acc.10225/338 ff.833-34 J Peacock to Sidney Hadwen of Balblair 26 March 1880

Like Stenhouse to have a few days at Creich “it is important to be at them before the Trees come into leaf”
NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 1 J[ames] B Kidd to Sir Arnold Kemball, Dunrobin 13 July 1882

Creich Plantation

“I do not propose doing much work at Creich

I commenced the year with only two men instead of five as formerly.  During the last two years I have Cut the Cabers and rubbish out of the Creich hill young plantn. and have kept extending the service roads to be in readiness for making a Cutting of props.  I am now prepared to Cut Several Cargoes – but as these props have to be Conveyed about 3 miles over very hilly plantation roads I find with the present low prices that I could not do it profitably.  Therefore I am only employing the two men – they are however about to commence Cutting a Cargo at the nearest point – and if found necessary another Cargo may be Cut before the end of the year.  Up to this time these two men have been employed cleaning the Farm hedges and filling up the gaps with young plants – the digging and planting in the nursery of young plants for the Farm hedges next year.  These hedges have to be Cleaned at least once again this year, which with the Cleaning of the Nursery – the Cutting of props and the repairing of the Service roads will form the main work for the year”

Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 1 Dornoch, Creich & Lairg Woods Annual Statement 1890

Squirrel damage April to July 597 killed

“The present prices for full sized timber are somewhat better than those of last year, but prices for pitwood timber have declined – and such timber is only being cut to meet local demand.”

[no mention of Creich except:]

“At Creich a small lot of timber has recently been sold from the Doune hill plantation – where it is found that the Larches growing on the South slope of the hill are very bad with heart rot – the thinning being Chiefly Confined to the worst of these.  A further thinning is now being made on Creichhill by Migdale Loch Side – only a few Larches and the decaying and unshapely Scots firs are being Cut”

[No mention of oak in this 1892 or 1893]

Inverness Courier 29 Sept 1891

Standing timber for sale, on the Sutherland Estate, parish of Creich, viz:-

2785 Scotch fir trees

1?08 larch trees

79 hardwood trees

The Scotch fir and larch are well grown and up to large sizes.  The whole is growing on the Kyle-side, where it can be shipped, and three miles from Bonar by road.  D Mackay, forester, Creich, will point out the trees and show conditions of sale.  J. B. Kidd, Dornoch, will, on receiving two days’ notice, meet intending offerers on the ground, and offers for the same will be received by D. Maclean, Sutherland Estates Office, Golspie, up till 23rd October 1891.

NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 2 Conditions of Sale of Standing Timber in Creich Woods 1891

[pencil bids outer] Mackay & Mackenzie [Tain] £952

7 October 1891

“The trees as marked shall be felled at the Expense of the Proprietor.  The numbers as stated are believed to be Correct but the Purchaser will be held to have Satisfied himself as to number and quality.

The Purchaser shall be held bound to leave the plantation Clear & redd to the Proprietor by the first day of August 1892.

A Site for a Steam Engine and Sawing Machinery will be pointed out – and also the roads by which the timber may be Carted.”

Offers by 23 October 1891

NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 4 Valuation of Dornoch Creich & Lairg Plantations January 1890 [on Sutherland Estate]

Creich

Dounehill &c 190 acres; £23 value per acre, £4400 commercial value, £2000 insurance value

Creich-hill 695 acres, £13 value per acre, £9000 commercial value, £4700 insurance value

NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 4 Valuation Roll 1891/2

Creich Parish Woods [on Sutherland estate]:

Linside 308 acres grazed by Crofters
Coil a’ Bhaddarach 26 acres

Dun of Creich 88 acres

“From Creich Mains to Loch Migdale 622 acres The greater part of this grazed by the Creich Farm tenant & included in his rent”

Belt W side of Farm 1 acre

Near Foresters House 2 acre

Total 1047 acres

NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 4 Creich woods: service road 1878 & 1879

NLS Acc.10225 WOODS Box 1 Folder 4 Timber marked for sale at Creich Oct 1891

From Doun Hill and Badarroch: Scots fir and larch, some hardwood

General
Alexander Sutherland, A summer ramble in the North Highlands. Edinburgh, 1825

p158 “In several places on the hill side near Spining dale people were employed in cutting down the copsewood and stripping off the bark for the use of tanners.  This is the only way in which the prodigious groves of dwarf oaks so common in the Highlands may be turned to profitable account.  From the rapidity with which fresh shoots spring up instead of those felled by the axe natural woods of this description are found to be a very productive species of property particularly in the neighbourhood of navigable waters.”

The New Statistical Account: Parish of Criech September 1834
p19 “There is a natural oak-wood of great beauty at Ledmore, the divided property of the Duchess of Sutherland and Mr Dempster of Skibo,of about 150 acres.  The bark of the portion which belongs to the latter owner was sold last year for L.500, and that of the former was sold some years ago for a much larger sum.

There is also some natural oak and birch at Rosehall, and in one or two other places; but, excepting some large oaks, it is not valuable, nor attended to.

The oldest planted wood in the parish is the hard-wood at Ospisdale, and the fir-wood at Rosehall; but this last, from being grown in a soil too rich, is considered of bad quality.

A considerable extent, chiefly of fir and larch, was planted thirty or forty years ago on the estates of Skibo and Pulrossie; and the present proprietor has already added upwards of 1500 acres, consisting of larch and fir, (chiefly the former,) with oak and other forest trees in smaller quantity.  Mr Houston of Creech, (who has recently sold his property to the Duke of Sutherland) and Mr Gilchrist of Ospisdale, have also planted considerably; and, on the whole, the extent of growing wood in this parish cannot be less than 2500 acres, and on the estate of Skibo it is yearly increasing.  All sorts of hard-wood sell readily, and at good prices, and the export of pit-wood from the fir plantations is considerable.”

Inverness Courier 22 June 1847

“A correspondent writes from Bonar Bridge – ‘After the plentiful showers and genial sunshine of the last few days, the country round Bonar Bridge is looking lovely; and vegetation, from the green corn blade to the stately oak, most luxuriant.  The banks of the Carron, on to Gledfield House, Ardcronie, the Ferns, and Culrain, seem one green bush.  Towards Creich and Creich House the birches are in their prime, and fragrant as beautiful; and the Ledmore oak-copse never looked richer or more thriving.”

Highland News 13 July 1912

Bonar Bridge FC Sabbath school of Kincardine annual picnic to Fairy Glen of Spinningdale

Highland News 15 May 1920

Deplorable state of Highland Roads: House of Lords Duke of Sutherland Wednesday “a long time since any money was spent on them owing to the war and the lack of labour, and the carting of timber which has been sold to the Government for war purposes has worn them out.”

John S Smith (ed.) The Third Statistical Account of Scotland: The County of Sutherland, 1988, Edinburgh

The parish of Creich by the Rev. J Martin 1950

p.83 Properties

The chief proprietors are – Mrs Margaret Carnegie Miller – Skibo

p.88 Forestry

“Two wars denuded the parish of its woods.  One extensive plantation, on the Skibo Estate, east of Bonar Bridge – planted after the First World War – was destroyed by fire in 1948.  Work is going on clearing this for re-planting.”

Fires: 1880 fire

NLS Acc.10225/339 f.316 Joseph Peacock, Golspie to Sir A Kemball, Stafford House 19 May 1880
reported about 100 acres of Sutherland Walkers “young plantation on the South East point of Migdale Rock was burned on the afternoon of the 17th inst”  “With this long continued dry weather the utmost Care is needed to prevent damage of this kind”  put out notices all over district
NLS Acc.10225/339 ff.339-340 Joseph Peacock, Golspie to Sir A Kemball, Stafford House 20 May 1880
[339] Skibo Plantation fire
After writing yesterday heard “had broken out again in the morning & had been burning more or less all day – so this morning I went over to see the Extent of the damage & to ascertain if The Dukes Creich plantns were exposed to any danger.  It appears the fire Commenced on the 18th inst (not the 17th) at the foot of the young plantation on the west side of Migdale rock – it was got under by [sic] the evening of that day with the loss of some 20 or 30 acres of young Trees - & in the belief that there was no further danger, only one or two men were left to watch during the night – this was the mistake – yesterday morning the wind got up again, and soon the whole hill side was ablaze & the wind being from the west the flames rapidly spread over the West side and [340] top of the Migdale rock – fortunately there was little to burn on the top of the rock, and the fire was prevented from reaching the top of the plantation on the East side – altogether the fire may have spread over about 100 acres one half or more being nothing but Heather”  Creich never in danger.
Acc.10225/339 ff.425-426 Joseph Peacock, Golspie to Sir A Kemball, Stafford House 27 May 1880
Fire Skibo
“The Gale returned upon us yesterday & blew very hard all day from the W & SW and in the afternoon I was not surprised to hear that the Fire in Mr Suthd Walkers Migdale Plantn had broken out again furiously – I went up this morning and found that Mr Kidd & his men had been there all night and had succeeded in Keeping the fire out of the Duke’s plantation – it seems almost a miracle that this Plantn should have escaped – for the Fire yesterday Commenced near the top of the Plantation on the East side of Migdale rock and burned all the way down to near the old mill dam the whole being very mossy – the small Stream out of Loch Migdale (in many places not more than a yard or two wide) with bushy Heather growing along each side was all that prevented the fire from Crossing over to His [426] Graces side of the march – the men must have done good work all along there, to have kept the fire from Crossing – they told me that it was only by making good use of the water in the Stream with the Branches they used, that they managed to keep the fire from Crossing - & certainly good Credit is due to them for the manner in which they accomplished it”  encl sketch “there is only a small portion of the plantation at the foot of the rock on the South Side that has not been burned – in the part to the Eastward there was still much fire Smouldering when I left this morning about ½ past 10 - & the probability is that with this dry weather it will Continue to smoulder for many weeks – liable to be fanned into activity again by any sharp breeze … Kidd will of Course keep men watching night & day So long as there appears to be any danger.”
Inverness Courier 27 May 1880
Sutherlandshire Fire “Last week the heather and a young plantation at Migdale Rock, on the property of Mr Sutherland-Walker of Skibo, caught fire, and, notwithstanding the utmost efforts to check the flames, nearly 100 acres of young trees were destroyed.  The flames have left the hill bleak and bare, and fears were entertained at one time for the safety of a beautiful wood on the Duke of Sutherland’s property, near Loch Migdale.  The origin of the fire is unknown.  The loss, we are glad to hear, is covered by insurance.”
1885

Highland Council Archives HCA R91/B5/2/8

Sutherland Constabulary Occurrence Book Bonar Bridge Station PC George Melvin

3 July 1885 Friday

“At 5 A.M. received information that between 11 & 12 o clock on the previous night Fire had brocken out in a fir wood Situated at the West end of Migdale Rock in the parish of Creich the property of E. C. Sutherland Esq of Skibo.  I proceeded there at once and examined the scene of the fire and Saw that about five Acres or thereby of wood had been burned, and from enquiry learned that Alexander Chisholm aged about 53 years a Crofter residing at Migdale was the first to Se [sic] the fire from his own house about a Mile distant, and Stated that he Saw it  first at 11 P.M. and Saw that it had been lighted in two different places about fifty yards apart the west most part being then newly lighted and Just visible while the [sic] had then a good hold.  he at once went on horseback to the house of Thomas Matheson Gamekeeper at Swordale and reported the matter to him went home with his horse Collected others and went and assisted in extinguishing the fire which was got out by 2 oclock nixt [sic] morning he Saw no Suspicious person in the neighbourhood and has no knowledge as to the origin of the fire.  I also examined Thomas Matheson and Ebenezer Grant who were the first to reach the fire and both declars that it was lighted in two different places about 40 yards apart and that they Saw no person near the Scene of the fire when they reached it.  I returned to then to Bonar and Sent a Report of the matter to the C.C. at Dornoch  About noon I went back to the Sene of the fire where I met the P.F. & C.C. who also examined a number of witnesses in the affair but no information was obtained as to the origin of the fire.  I returned to Bonar 4 P.M. where I patrolled and watched generally in and about the village during the evening till 12 night 12 Miles.”

4 July 1885 Saturday patrolled Bonar village and “made private enquiry regarding Several parties who were likely to have Set fire to the wood at Migdale Rock”

7 July 1885 Tuesday

“At 9 A.M. left Station and by instructions received from PF & C.C. I proceeded to Migdale and went through from house to house among all the tenents Crofters on that part of the Skibo estate and made every posible enquiry with the view to discover the origin of the fire in the wood at Migdale Rock and was assisted in this duty by P.C. John Mackenzie but failed to obtain any information which is likely to lead to any discovery in the matter returned to Bonar by 5 P.M. and reported the result of enquiries to the C.C. and patrolled and watched generally in and about Bonar village till 12 night.  Travelled 12 Miles.”

Spinningdale Wood Dump

HCA CS3/1/18 Minutes of Sutherland County Council

meeting 21 August 1946

p.6 Spinningdale Firewood Dump

“The County Clerk verbally reported that he had had a call recently from Mr Crawford of the Board of Trade, Inverness, who informed him that the lease of the timber dump between the Board of Trade and Skibo Estate expires on 31st December: that there are thousands of tons of excellent firewood there for sale to the Public at a very reasonable price, and the Public can get full particulars by applying to the Board of Trade, Timber Production Department, 20 Queensgate, Inverness.  After discussion, it was elicited that the firewood referred to was not readily available for removal should the Public desire to purchase, and the County Clerk was instructed to bring the matter to the notice of the Ministry of Fuel and Power so that the timber may be made available to the Public.”

HCA CS3/1/18 Minutes of Sutherland County Council

2 April 1947

pp.310- 311 “Fuel Burning. Spinningdale Wood Dump.

Submitted letter from Councillor John Murray suggesting that a strong protest be sent to the Ministry of Fuel against the burning of thousands of tons of wood fuel at Spinningdale.

The meeting instructed the County Clerk to communicate with the Ministry of Fuel and ascertain whether the burning was deliberate and if the former to [311] make a strong protest against such gross waste at this critical time and to emphasise that no further wood dumps should be burnt in any part of the County.”
Sunday Post 12 May 1946
“Fuel Dumps Set on Fire

The action of the Board of Trade in permitting the wanton destruction of thousands of tons of useful domestic firewood has roused indignation in Sutherlandshire.

Councillor George J Grant revealed to the County Council that three huge dumps had gone up in flames.  No one was allowed to take even a few ‘kindlers.’

It was a crying shame that excellent fuel should have been disposed of in this way, was the view of County Council members.

A ‘Sunday Post’ representative who visited the Invershin area found little more than a carpet of smouldering ashes.

Cotters [sic] and crofters in the district were prohibited from entering the dump.

A workmen estimated the Invershin dump at over 2000 tons.  There were similar bings at Clashmore and Spinningdale.

One householder who was found carrying home a small quantity of wood was told if he acted ‘criminally’ again he would suffer the consequences of his folly.

All these timber binds surround camps occupied by Canadian lumbermen during the war.  They have all been zealously guarded.

In the event of another chilly winter, with fuel scarce, Sutherland folk will have envious recollections of the huge palls of smoke which enveloped the countryside earlier in the year.

The County Council have made representations to the Board of Trade to have this destruction stopped.”

1948 Fire

People’s Journal 1 May 1948

“Moorland Fire Puts Old Folk in Peril

Forty old folk in Swordale Institution, Sutherland, were threatened with the loss of their home when a woodland and moorland fire swept towards it over a 15-mile stretch of the surrounding countryside.

The blaze, which had started near Spinningdale, also threatened Swordale Farm, Ordan Farm, and a keeper’s house on the Swordale Estate.

Fanned by a strong easterly breeze, it sped across the hill towards Bonar Bridge, and came within half a mile of the institution.  Fortunately by the time it neared Ordan Farm, a sudden change of wind blew it back towards Spinningdale.  It encircled the hill, and was finally put out.

Mrs K. A. Wilson, matron of the Swordale Institution, gave instructions to the staff to keep watch, but the old folk were not told of the outbreak.

Farm Threatened

Twenty yards of open field saved the situation at Ordan Farm.  The fire came sweeping through the wood, threatening the farm and steading, and eight dairy cattle had to be evacuated.  The N.F.S. damped undergrowth and bushes to quell the outbreak, and were helped by the farmer, Mr A. D. Edwards.

Mr Donald Chalmers, his wife and four-year-old son, occupy the keeper’s house at Swordale, which is situated on the edge of the wood.  Had the fire kept its original direction their position would have been the most precarious of all, and they had to evacuate their home.  Volunteers and N.F.S. helped to carry their furniture and belongings away from the dwelling.  These precautions, however, proved unnecessary, thanks to the change of wind.

As it swept back towards Spinningdale the fire ran along the main Dornoch-Bonar Bridge road for about three miles.  Firemen drove through the flames and smoke in water carriers, spraying undergrowth and bushes on each side of the road and, although the blaze crossed it at several points, the men succeeded in stopping it on the line of the road.  Undergrowth was again soaked to prevent the fire spreading from one wood to another, and at another point it was stopped in its tracks by Loch Migdale.

The fire, which was reckoned to have travelled at about five miles per hour, burned plantation and moorland over a circular course five miles long by three miles broad.  At times flames leapt 100 feet in the air.

Deputy Fire Force Commander Duncan Macdonald, from N.F.S. Headquarters in Inverness, made a dash by car to direct the fire-fighting operations, in which brigades from Tain, Dornoch, Bonar Bridge, Golspie, and Dingwall took part.  Over a hundred volunteers gave valuable assistance.”

The Northern Times 29 April 1948

“Forest Fire at Creich

Huge Area Alight

Over 100 volunteer fire-fighters assisted five N.F.S. detachments from a wide area to fight one of the most disastrous fires in the history of Sutherland on Sunday.

The blaze destroyed an area of almost fifteen square miles of young woodland between Spinningdale and Bonar-Bridge, and at one time two farmhouses and a gamekeeper’s house were threatened.

The threat to the keeper’s house was particularly acute, and all the furniture was removed to a nearby field.  But a stream of water directed on to the roof of the building prevented it from becoming ignited.

It seemed that the fire-fighters were waging a losing battle when a sudden change of the wind turned the flame back.

Although handicapped by the lack of water, the fire-fighters, under Deputy Fire Force Commander D. Macdonald, of Inverness, stuck grimly to their task.

N.F.S. men from Dingwall, Tain, Golspie, and Bonar-Bridge were helped by Skibo Estate Forestry workers, along with Ardross and Dornoch Forestry Commission employees and a contingent of Sutherland Constabulary, under Chief Constable Ross.

Flames leaped 100 feet into the air while fanned by a strong wind, they swept towards Bonar-Bridge.

For a time the Swordale Institution, near Bonar-Bridge, was in danger, and the staff stood by waiting to evacuate the patients if necessary.

Fortunately the fire was checked half a mile from the building.

After the wind changed, the blaze which had travelled in a great semi-circle from Spinningdale towards Bonar-Bridge, travelled back round the other side of the plantation, which borders the main road between the two villages.

At one point the fire crossed the road, and all traffic was held up.

Fire tenders kept up a constant patrol along the road, plying water on the flames, and on Monday afternoon the whole blaze was got under control.

Most of the plantation which was destroyed is on the Skibo Estate.  The cause of the outbreak is unknown.”

Highland Council Archive CS3/1/19 Minutes of Sutherland County Council

7 May 1948

p.395 Forest Fire Near Creich

“Councillor George McIver directed attention to a Report that had appeared in the Press relative to a most distructive [sic] forest fire that had recently taken place near Creich on the Skibo Estate.  The Report was stated to be based on an interview between the Press and Mr J P Whittet, Factor for Skibo Estate and Mr Whittet was reported as having stated that the lack of fire equipment had greatly handicapped the fighting of the fire.  The whole trend of the Report appeared to reflect on the insufficiency of the fire-fighting equipment provided by the several fire service units on the scene.  Councillor McIver stated that he had made very careful inquiry into the whole matter and he was satisfied that the main reason for the spread of the conflagration was the lack of fire-break roadways in the forest and the state of the undergrowth which completely blocked the fire fighting vehicles from making any headway.  If these facilities had been available the equipment on the ground was quite sufficient to have restricted the fire and prevented a good deal of the damage that had occurred.

The Council unanimously agreed that the Report which had appeared in the Press was not a true and proper statement of the facts and that the equipment available was sufficient and all that in reason was required if fire-breaks had been [p.396] provided in the forest and roadways had been provided to meet a contingency such as this.”

Canadians
The Courier and Advertiser 27 August 1949

“Fred goes back to the Highlands

Fred Noyles, 38-year old coalminer from Sydney, Nova Scotia [Cape Breton], gave his wife a big surprise when he knocked at the door of a lonely farm house in Ross-shire where she is housekeeper.

During the war Fred served in this country with the Canadian Forestry Corps and worked in the woods at Spinningdale in Sutherlandshire.

In 1942 he married 19-year old Bessie Murray, daughter of a crofter in Whiteface.  Their son David was born there five years ago.

Mrs Noyles continued living at the family croft when Fred left with the Forestry Corps for work in Belgium and Germany.

When he returned to Nova Scotia in 1946 he had to leave his wife in Sutherland owing to family illness.

Six weeks ago he decided to return to Scotland and take his wife and child to Canada, but he did not let his wife known his intention.

He made his way to Montreal where he got a job on a cattle boat and worked his passage to Genoa.  He travelled overland to Dieppe and landed at Newhaven on Monday.  By train and bus he reached Spinningdale on Wednesday, only to learn from his mother-in-law that his wife had left two months before to be housekeeper to a farmer at Strathpeffer.

Undaunted by this vague address Fred arrived in Strathpeffer to find that the police knew about a Mrs Noyles being in the neighbourhood.  Through the post office Fred learned that she was at Comrie Farm and to get there he had to walk nearly six miles.

To his disappointment his wife told him she will not go to Nova Scotia so Fred intends finding work as a woodman or on a hydro-electric scheme and making a home for his wife and young David in the Highlands.”
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